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I. statement
1. On September 2, 2004, Staff of the Public Utilities Commission (Staff) issued Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 71173 to Monument Limousine Service, LLC (Monument or Respondent).  

2. In the CPAN as presented to Respondent, Staff alleged that Respondent committed 25 violations of 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 395.8(a), as made applicable in Colorado by Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-15-2.1, and four violations of 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2), as made applicable in Colorado by Rule 4 CCR 723-15-2.1.  In the CPAN as served on Respondent, the maximum civil penalty was $5,800.  

3. As provided in the CPAN, Respondent admitted to seven violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) and paid a $700 civil penalty.  There are 18 remaining alleged violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) and four remaining alleged violations of 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2).
  

4. On September 24, 2004, the Commission issued its Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing.  This Order established a hearing on December 14, 2004, in Denver, Colorado.  The undersigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ), to whom the case is assigned, vacated that hearing date.  Decision No. R04-1421-I.  The hearing was scheduled for February 8, 2005.  Decision No. R05-0043-I.  

5. Respondent filed a Motion for Dismissal by Directed Verdict.  Staff filed a response.  By Decision No. 1555-I the ALJ denied the motion.  Respondent filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Interim Order No. R04-1555-I filed by Respondent.  Staff filed a Response.  By Decision No. R05-0113-I the ALJ denied this motion.  

6. The ALJ required Respondent to establish that it could be represented by an officer in this matter.  Decision No. R04-1421-I.  Following consideration of the materials submitted by Respondent, the ALJ determined that Respondent could proceed without legal representation and that Alex Malone, the President and an officer of Respondent, could represent Respondent in this proceeding.  Decision No. R04-1554-I.  

7. The hearing was held as scheduled on February 8, 2005.  Staff presented the testimony of Mr. Paul Hoffman, a Commission Compliance Investigator; and Respondent presented the testimony of Mr. Alex Malone, its owner and Vice-President.  Hearing Exhibits No. 1 through No.8 were marked for identification, offered, and admitted into evidence.  At the conclusion of the hearing, the ALJ closed the evidentiary record and took the matter under advisement.  

8. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the record and exhibits of the proceeding together with a written recommended decision are transmitted to the Commission.  

II. findings of fact, discussion, and conclusions of law  
9. Respondent is a limited liability company established in Colorado.  It provides “luxury limousine service,” as defined in § 40-16-101(3.3), C.R.S.; holds PUC Authority No. LL-582; and is authorized to operate a luxury limousine service in Colorado.  

10. On September 3, 2004, Respondent received (by certified mail, return receipt requested) CPAN No. 71173.  Hearing Exhibit No. 2.  

11. Respondent does not challenge the Commission’s jurisdiction, and the facts establish the Commission’s jurisdiction in this proceeding.  The Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over this case.  In addition, the Commission has personal jurisdiction over Respondent, which acknowledged that receipt of the CPAN (see Hearing Exhibit No. 2) and which entered a general appearance at the hearing.  

12. The CPAN charged Respondent with 18 violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) and four violations of 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2).  Each alleged violation carries a maximum civil penalty of $200, and the maximum civil penalty in this matter is $4,400.  Hearing Exhibit No. 1.  

In this case Staff bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.  Section 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; Rules 4 CCR 723-1-72(c) and 4 CCR 723-1-82(a)(2).  Staff must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations of the CPAN.
  For the reasons discussed below, Staff has met its burden of proof in this case with respect to the violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) and has failed to do so with respect to the alleged violations of 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2).  

13. On April 17, 2002, Mr. Hoffman conducted a Transportation Safety and Compliance Review (Compliance Review) of Respondent.  As pertinent here, the report of that review shows the following deficiencies in Respondent’s records:  failure to comply with 49 CFR § 395.8(a) (failure “to require [named drivers] to prepare a 2002 record of duty status” and failure “to require [named drivers] to prepare a complete and accurate 2002 record of duty status”).  Hearing Exhibit No. 7 at 3.  As relevant to this proceeding, the report contains the follow recommendations:  

Obtain and become familiar with the Commission’s Safety Rules and t4he Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations.  

* * *  

Ensure that each driver maintains either (1) records of duty status pursuant to 395.8, or (2) accurate time records pursuant to Rule 7.2 of 4 CCR 723-15.  Unless all the requirements of Rule 7.2 are met, drivers become subject to the general rule of 395.8.  “On duty time” is defined in 395.2.  

Id. at 4.  Respondent received a copy of this Compliance Review report at a later date.  

14. Page 5 of Hearing Exhibit No. 7 is a Safety & Compliance Survey Recap Worksheet (Recap Worksheet).  At the conclusion of the April 2002 Compliance Review, Mr. Hoffman discussed the observed violations with Mr. Alex Malone and provided Mr. Malone with a copy of the Recap Worksheet.  At the bottom of the Recap Worksheet is the following statement, signed by Mr. Alex Malone on April 17, 2002:  “I have received a copy of this recap worksheet and the noted violations have been explained to me.”  

15. On July 10, 2003, Mr. Hoffman conducted a Compliance Review of Respondent.  As pertinent here, the report of that review shows the following deficiencies in Respondent’s records:  failure to comply with 49 CFR § 395.8(a) (failure to require named driver “to prepare a record of duty status”) and failure to comply with 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2) (failure “to maintain a means to indicate the nature and due date of various inspection and maintenance operations to be performed, for all units”).  Hearing Exhibit No. 5 at 5.  As relevant to this proceeding, the report contains the follow recommendations:  

Obtain and become familiar with the Commission’s Safety Rules and t4he Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations.  

* * *  

Ensure that each driver maintains either (1) records of duty status pursuant to 395.8, or (2) accurate time records pursuant to 395.1(e)(5).  Unless all the requirements of 395.1(e)(5) are met, the drivers become subject to the general rule of 395.8.  “On duty time” is defined in 395.2.  

Ensure that each driver maintains either (1) records of duty status pursuant to 395.8, or (2) accurate time records pursuant to Rule 7.2 of 4 CCR 723-15.  Unless all the requirements of Rule 7.2 are met, drivers become subject to the general rule of 395.8.  “On duty time” is defined in 395.2.  

Establish a systematic maintenance records program for all vehicles.  Maintain a complete file for each subject vehicle; identify the vehicle; record all repair, maintenance and inspection operations performed; develop and employ a preventative maintenance schedule.  

Id. at 5-6.  Respondent received a copy of this Compliance Review report at a later date.  

16. Page 6 of Hearing Exhibit No. 7 is a Recap Worksheet.  At the conclusion of the July 2003 Compliance Review, Mr. Hoffman discussed the observed violations with Mr. Alex Malone and provided Mr. Malone with a copy of the Recap Worksheet.  At the bottom of the Recap Worksheet is the following statement, signed by Mr. Alex Malone on July 10, 2003:  “I have received a copy of this recap worksheet and the noted violations have been explained to me.”  

17. On July 21, 2003, Commission Staff in the Transportation Section sent to Respondent, in care of Mr. Alex Malone, a copy of the Compliance Review report for the July 2003 review.  In that mailing Commission Transportation Staff also sent a Certification of Correction form and requested Respondent to “[s]ign and return this certification within 20 days of the mailed date certifying that the records violations were corrected.”  Hearing Exhibit No. 6.  Mr. Alex Malone, as owner of Respondent, signed the following statement:  “I certify that the violations, as noted, have been corrected.” and submitted the Certification of Correction form on July 31, 2003.  Id.  

18. On August 10, 2004, Mr. Hoffman conducted the Compliance Review of Respondent which is the subject of this proceeding.  In that Compliance Review Mr. Hoffman reviewed Respondent’s records for the period July 1 through August 9, 2004.  When Mr. Hoffman contacted Respondent, Mr. Malone informed him that Respondent had been the victim of a burglary in May, 2004 and that many of the company’s records had been taken or destroyed.  As a result, Mr. Hoffman chose for his review and audit a period which was subsequent to the burglary.  Mr. Hoffman chose the July - August period because, in his opinion, the burglary would have no impact on the existence or non-existence of the records and Respondent would have had time recover from the burglary and to reestablish or to resume its normal record-keeping practices.  

19. Respondent argues that it is not responsible for its failure to have the required records, at least in part, due to the burglary and the attendant theft or destruction of its business records.  The ALJ finds this argument unpersuasive because Mr. Hoffman chose a period for the Compliance Review was at least one month subsequent to the burglary.  However inconvenient and disruptive the burglary might have been, Respondent had at least one month to recover from its effects and should have return to its normal record-keeping practices by July 1, 2004.  Mr. Hoffman’s choice of July 1 through August 10, 2004 for the Compliance Review was reasonable.  

20. As pertinent here, the report of the August 10, 2004 Compliance Review shows the following deficiencies in Respondent’s records:  failure to comply with 49 CFR § 395.8(a) (failure to require named driver “to prepare a complete and accurate record of duty status”) and failure to comply with 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2) (failure “to maintain, for your vehicles, a means to indicate the nature and due date of various inspection and maintenance operations to be performed”).  Hearing Exhibit No. 3 at 3.  The Compliance Review report shows 108 violations
 of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) for the three drivers whose records were checked and four violations of 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2) for the four vehicles the records of which were checked.  

21. As relevant to this proceeding, the report contains the follow recommendations:  

Obtain and become familiar with the Commission’s Safety Rules and the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations.  

* * *  

Ensure that each driver maintains either (1) records of duty status pursuant to 395.8, or (2) accurate time records pursuant to Rule 7.2 of 4 CCR 723-15.  Unless all the requirements of Rule 7.2 are met, drivers become subject to the general rule of 395.8.  “On duty time” is defined in 395.2.  

In summary, ensure that you are maintaining a record of duty status or time sheet/record that reflects all drivers activities for each day, including days that the driver is off duty and hours worked elsewhere.  Failure to do so will count against you as no record of duty status for that day.  

Establish a systematic maintenance records program for all vehicles.  Maintain a complete file for each subject vehicle; identify the vehicle; record all repair, maintenance and inspection operations performed; develop and employ a preventative maintenance schedule.  

Id. at 4 (emphasis in original).  Respondent received a copy of this Compliance Review report at a later date.  

22. Page 6 of Hearing Exhibit No. 3 is a Recap Worksheet.  At the conclusion of the August 2004 Compliance Review, Mr. Hoffman discussed the observed violations with Mr. Alex Malone and provided Mr. Malone with a copy of the Recap Worksheet.  At the bottom of the Recap Worksheet is the following statement, signed by Mr. Alex Malone on August 10, 2004:  “I have received a copy of this recap worksheet and the noted violations have been explained to me.”  

23. On August 16, 2004, Commission Staff in the Transportation Section sent to Respondent, in care of Mr. Alex Malone, a copy of the Compliance Review report for the August 2004 review.  In that mailing Commission Transportation Staff also sent a Certification of Correction form and requested Respondent to “[s]ign and return this certification within 20 days of the mailed date certifying that the records violations were corrected.”  Hearing Exhibit No. 4.  Mr. Alex Malone, as owner of Respondent, signed the following statement:  “I certify that the violations, as noted, have been corrected” and submitted the Certification of Correction form on August 30 2004.  Id.  

24. At the hearing, Respondent introduced computer-generated records of its revenue forecast.  Hearing Exhibit No. 8.  Included in the exhibit are records of the hours which various drivers worked.  These computer records were compiled from hand-written records kept by Respondent for the months of July and August 2005 and, as of the August 2004 Compliance Review, are the only records which Respondent maintained of its drivers’ duty status.  The CPAN alleges 18 violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a), each of which involves driver Alex Malone.  Hearing Exhibit No. 1 at 1-2.  Review of Hearing Exhibit No. 8 reveals no record of Mr. Malone’s duty status on 12 of the 18 days identified in the CPAN.  In addition, that exhibit shows only the hours Mr. Malone drove on the remaining six days; it does not show, for example, hours when Mr. Malone was off duty or on-duty but not driving; and it is not in the grid format found at 49 CFR § 395.8(g).  

25. Rule 4 CCR 723-15-2.1 incorporates, inter alia, 49 CFR § 395.8(a), 49 CFR § 395.1(e), and 49 CFR 396.3(b), as they existed on October 1, 1998, into the Rules Regulating Safety for Motor Vehicle Carriers and Establishing Civil Penalties, 4 CCR 723-15.  These Rules apply to Respondent, as an operator of luxury limousines.  Rule 4 CCR 723-15-4.6; Rule 4 CCR 723-15-12.5; Rule 4 CCR 723-15-12.7.  

As noted, the CPAN contains 18 alleged violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a)(1998).  That section requires 

every motor carrier [to] require every driver used by the motor carrier to record his/her duty status for each 24 hour period using the methods prescribed in either paragraph (a)(1) or (2) of this section.  

Section 395.8(a)(1) of 49 CFR requires each driver to record her/his duty status, in duplicate, for each 24-hour period; the duty status is to be recorded on a grid which complies with the specifications of 49 CFR § 395.8(g).  The latter section, in turn, requires the recording of off duty hours; driving hours; on duty, but not driving, hours; and 11 other pieces of information.  Section 395.8(a)(2) of 49 CFR allows a driver to use a recording device to record duty status, provided the device meets the requirements of 49 CFR § 395.15.  

The ALJ finds that, as of the August 10, 2004 Compliance Review, Respondent failed to maintain any duty status records for driver Alex Malone on July 18-21, 23, 25, 26, 29, and 29 and August 8-10, 2004.  The ALJ also finds that, as of the Compliance Review of August 10, 2004, Respondent failed to maintain duty status records for driver Alex Malone on July 17, 22, 24, 27, 30, and 31, 2004, which records contained all of the information specified in 49 CFR § 395.8(g).  Each of these failures is a violation of 49 CFR § 395.8(a), made applicable to Respondent, as a luxury limousine service, by Rule 4 CCR 723-15-2.1.  The ALJ finds and concludes that Respondent violated 49 CFR § 395.8(a) and Rule 4 CCR 723-15-2.1 a total of 18 times, as alleged in the CPAN.  

26. The ALJ finds that, at least as of April 17, 2002, Respondent had actual knowledge of the 49 CFR § 395.8(a) and of its obligation to comply with that rule.  In addition, the ALJ finds that, on July 10, 2003, Respondent was reminded of its obligation to comply with 49 CFR § 395.8(a).  Finally, the ALJ finds that, as of July 31, 2003 and August 30, 2004, based on the certifications that its records were in compliance with those rule, Respondent had actual knowledge of the rule and had a demonstrated ability to maintain records which complied with the rule.  Based on these findings, the ALJ concludes that Respondent knowingly violated 49 CFR § 395.8(a) a total of 18 times, as alleged in the CPAN.  

27. Mr. Malone testified that, in his opinion, Respondent’s records were sufficient to bring Respondent within the ambit of the exemption found at 49 CFR § 395.1(e)(1998).
  This argument is unpersuasive.  Review of the driver duty status records offered by Respondent (Hearing Exhibit No. 8) reveals that they do not meet the requirements of the exemption.  There is nothing at all for 12 of the 18 days, and for the remaining six days the recorded information does not indicate time in and time out for each day.  As it is Respondent’s burden of proof to establish that it comes within the exemption and as it has failed to meet that burden, the ALJ finds and concludes that the exemption found at 49 CFR § 395.1(e)(1998) does not apply in this case.  Respondent’s driver duty status records must comply with the full requirements of 49 CFR § 395.8(a); as discussed above, they do not comply.  

The CPAN also alleges four violations of 49 CFR 396.3(b)(2)(1998).  Section 396.3(b) of 49 CFR (1998) specifies the records which a motor carrier must maintain for each vehicle which the carrier controls for 30 or more consecutive days.  Specifically, 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2)(1998) requires a carrier to maintain, or to cause to be maintained, “a means to indicate the nature and due date of the various inspection and maintenance operations to be performed” on each vehicle.  

To establish a violation of this rule, Staff must prove, inter alia, that Respondent controlled the vehicle or vehicles in question for 30 or more consecutive days.  Staff presented neither testimonial nor documentary evidence on this point.
  As a result, Staff failed to meet its burden of proof with respect to the alleged violations of 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2).  

Alleged violations no. 26 though and including no. 29 will be dismissed with prejudice.  At hearing Staff presented its case on the merits in full and did not sustain its burden of proof with respect to  these alleged violations.   This decision is an  adjudication on the merits.  

It would be unfair to permit Staff another opportunity to litigate these same alleged violations.  Dismissal with prejudice precludes further litigation of these alleged violations, provides finality, and is appropriate in this case.  

Having found that Respondent violated 49 CFR § 395.8(a), it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for these violations.  In the CPAN, Staff seeks a civil penalty of $3,000 for these 18 violations.  

Based on the record in this case, the ALJ finds that $3,000 is the appropriate civil penalty amount to be assessed.  In making this determination, the ALJ began with the maximum civil penalty for these violations (i.e., $3,600); considered Commission guidance provided in previous civil penalty case decisions; considered the purposes served by civil penalties; considered the factors in aggravation; considered the factors in mitigation; and considered the range of civil penalty assessments found to be reasonable in other civil penalty cases.  

The ALJ considered several factors in aggravation.  

First, as evidenced by the signing of the Recap Worksheets in 2002 and 2003, Respondent was aware of the record-keeping requirements and, as evidenced by the signing of the Certification of Correction in 2003, Respondent knew how to maintain records in a manner which complied with the rule requirements.  In addition, each time violations were found, Mr. Hoffman and Mr. Malone discussed the violations.  Notwithstanding this knowledge, Respondent did not maintain its records in a manner which complied with the rule requirements.  

Second, the cited record-keeping obligations concern driver compliance with rules regulating the number of hours a driver is on-duty.  From the records, if properly maintained, a motor carrier (such as Respondent) can determine whether a driver is or is not available for assignment based on the number of hours the driver has worked.  This is a matter which affects the public health and safety because a driver who has worked too many hours without the required eight-hour break and who is tired and inattentive as a result poses a danger to her/himself, to passengers, and to other persons.  

Third, if it was unsure about how to maintain complying records or about what records needed to be maintained, Respondent could have contacted -- and was encouraged to contact -- Commission Transportation Section Staff for assistance.  See, e.g., Hearing Exhibits No. 5, 6, and 7 (providing contact name, address, and telephone number).  It did not do so.  

Fourth and finally, Respondent has evidenced an inability or unwillingness to maintain the required driver duty status records.  This has been a recurring problem since at least 2002.
  

As factors in mitigation, the ALJ considered -- but, for the reasons stated in note 5, severely discounted -- Respondent’s certification that it has corrected the record-keeping violations.  Respondent offered no evidence in mitigation other than the burglary which occurred in late May 2004; and, for the reasons discussed above, the ALJ finds that this is not a mitigating circumstance.  The ALJ finds it appropriate to take into consideration in mitigation the fact that Respondent had some duty status records, albeit incomplete, for driver Alex Malone.  For the six days of incomplete records, the civil penalty will be $100 per day.  

The ALJ finds that a civil penalty of $3,000 achieves the following purposes underlying civil penalty assessments:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by other similarly-situated carriers or by Respondent; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for its past behavior.  

28. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  

III. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:
1. Monument Limousine Service, LLC, is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $3,000.  

2. Monument Limousine Service, LLC, shall remit to the Public Utilities Commission the amount of $3,000 within 30 days of the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission.  

3. Violations No. 26 through and including 29 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 71173 are dismissed with prejudice.  
4. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

5. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  

6. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.  

THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


MANA L. JENNINGS-FADER
________________________________

Administrative Law Judge

(S E A L)
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Director
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�  In this Recommended Decision the ALJ refers only to the 22 remaining allegations.  


�  A party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole and however slightly, tips in favor of that party.  


�  Mr. Hoffman described Standard TRO 3 Operating Procedure as a standard or operating procedure which Staff has adopted, along with the standards, from the federal government.  According to Mr. Hoffman, application of this operating procedure limited the number of observed violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) which could be written up (that is, included) in the CPAN.  


�  If a “driver operates within a 100 air-mile radius of the normal work reporting location,” 49 CFR § 395.1(e)(1998) exempts that driver from the requirements of 49 CFR § 395.8 provided the driver meets the four stated criteria and provided the employing motor carrier  


maintains and retains for a period of 6 months accurate and true time records showing:  


(i)	The time the driver reports for duty each day; [and]  


(ii)	The total number of hours the driver is on duty each day; [and]  


(iii)	The time the driver is released from duty each day; and  


(iv)	The total time for the preceding 7 days in accordance with [49 CFR]�§ 395.8(j)(2) for drivers used for the first time or intermittently.  


See also Rule 4 CCR 723-15-7.2 (same).    


�  The only evidence on the vehicles themselves came from Mr. Malone, who testified that Respondent’s vehicles are “brand new” and are model year 2004 or newer.  This does not address either when Respondent obtained control of each vehicle or whether each vehicle had been in Respondent’s control for 30 or more consecutive days at the time of the August 2004 Compliance Review.  


�  The fact that this is a recurring issue with Respondent undercuts the impact of the Certification of Compliance signed by Respondent on August 30, 2004.  Respondent signed an identical Certification with respect to the same violations on July 31, 2003 and yet had the same record-keeping violations found again (for the third consecutive year) in 2004.  This casts serious doubt on the 2004 Certification of Compliance and on whether Respondent has corrected the driver-related record-keeping violations.  
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